IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01830

LEAH FULTON DOOLEY, ET AL. **APPELLANTS** v. CEDRIC BYRD AND INDEPENDENT ROOFING SYSTEMS, INC. **APPELLEES BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

> APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

William W. Fulgham, Esq. Mississippi Bar N **FULGHAM LAW FIRM, PLLC** 533A Keyway Drive P. O. Box 321386 Flowood, MS 39232 Telephone: (601) 932-9710

Facsimile: (601) 932-9712

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01830

LEAH FULTON DOOLEY

APPELLANT

v.

CEDRIC BYRD AND INDEPENDENT ROOFING

SYSTEMS, INC.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- A. The verdict of the jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence as the evidence does not support a finding that either (1) the vehicle driven by Appellee Cedric Byrd was "continuing its turn forward" at the time of the collision or (2) that the actions of Leah Dooley were the sole proximate cause which in natural and continuous sequence unbroken by any efficient intervening cause, produced the injury without which the result would not have occurred.
- B. The Trial Court erred in refusing the Appellants' proposed jury instructions regarding the negligence per se of the Appellees for statutory violations by failing to have warning devices and failing to possess the required Class D commercial drivers' license, as well as refusing Appellants' proposed instruction on the issue of standing still in a roadway.
- C. The Trial Court erred in failing to apply this Supreme Court's precedent established in the case of Long v. McKinney and thereby refusing to allow counsel for these Appellants to participate in examining key witnesses and present their theory of the case. In so doing, the Trial Court abused its discretion by favoring a general, procedural rule covering the facing of only one attorney per witness over the substantive rights of these Appellants.
- D. The Trial Court erred in granting Jury Instructions # 10 and # 11 over the objection of the Appellants, as the same improperly instructed the jury to disregard key factual elements relevant to the Appellants' theory of the case.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, AND DISPOSITION

This matter first came into court upon the filing of a complaint by Leah Fulton Dooley, who filed on behalf of herself, a minor child, a child in gestation, and all heirs-at-law of Jonathan Wayne Dooley, a minor, deceased, in October 2003. Based upon this Supreme Court's holding in the case of Long v. McKinney, 897 So.2d 160 (Miss. 2004), Appellants Dewey Dooley and Kaitlyn Patrick Dooley, a minor child, entered into this action through the filing of a Motion for Joinder and Separate Representation by undersigned counsel on February 15, 2005. That motion was later granted by telephonic hearing which took place immediately prior to the second deposition of Leah Dooley.

From May 27, 2009 through June 5, 2009, a trial was held in this matter in the Circuit Court of Rankin County, Mississippi before the Honorable Samac Richardson. Following the presentation of evidence, the parties submitted proposed jury instructions and moved for various relief. Though the Honorable Trial Judge endeavored to deliver the case fairly to the jury, and struggled with the lack of developed case law on at least one issue as more fully set forth herein, the jury was instructed in a manner which did not offer all parties a fair opportunity for a fair consideration of their theories of the case, which were supported by the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence, constituting reversible error. Based upon their improper charge, and against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Defendants, with a Final Judgment being entered on June 22, 2009.

On July 2, 2009, these Appellants filed their post-trial motions pursuant to Rule 59 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, and other authority, as did the Leah Dooley Appellants. At

a hearing of the respective post-trial motions on August 24, 2009, undersigned counsel was instructed that only counsel for the Leah Dooley Appellants would be allowed to argue, to the exclusion of the undersigned counsel for Dewey Dooley and Kaitlyn Patrick Dooley. In an effort to mitigate the prejudice of such ruling, the undersigned attempted to argue these Appellants' post-trial motion, but the same was disregarded by the trial court. Thereafter, the trial court entered an order denying the Appellants' respective post-trial motions on October 14, 2009.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES

These Appellants' Brief is offered in the spirit of the authority announced in Long v. McKinney, and through which these Appellants attempted to proceed at trial. Accordingly, efforts will be made to avoid duplication of arguments and recitation of relevant facts. In addition to the Statement of Facts, Summary of the Argument, and Record Excerpts offered by the Leah Dooley Appellants, these Appellants will offer in the Argument section of this Brief factual presentations and authorities which are either in addition to those previously submitted by the Leah Dooley Appellants or which differ from the same, and have highlighted additional material through the submission of a separate Record Excerpts compilation.

C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standards of review the trial court should have employed when considering a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and a motion for new trial are set forth in the case of Hankins Lumber Company v. Moore, 774 So.2d 459 (Miss. App. 2000), which quoted the case of Jesco, Inc. v. Whitehead, 451 So.2d 706, 714 (Miss. 1984) as follows:

The motion for j.n.o.v. tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence supporting the verdict. It asks the Court to hold, as a matter of law, that the verdict may not

stand. Where a motion for j.n.o.v. has been made, the trial court must consider all of the evidence-not just evidence which supports the non-movant's case--in the light most favorable to the party opposed to the motion. The non-movant must also be given the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. If the facts and inferences so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the movant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, granting the motion is required. On the other hand, if there is substantial evidence opposed to the motion, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fairminded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions, the motion should be denied and the jury's verdict allowed to stand."

Hankins Lumber Co. v. Moore, 774 So.2d at 463 (emphasis added)(citations omitted). Further, "When a trial judge denies a motion for JNOV, this Court examines all the evidence, not just evidence supporting the non-movant's case in the most favorable light." Fiddle, Inc. v. Shannon, 834 So. 2d 39, 45 (Miss. 2003) (citing C & C Trucking, Inc. v. Smith, 612 So.2d 1092, 1098 (Miss. 1992).

A motion for new trial "may be proper in circumstances where a JNOV should not have been granted." Id. (citing Larkin v. Perry, 427 So.2d 138, 138-39 (Miss. 1983)). A new trial should be ordered when the trial judge "is convinced that the verdict is contrary to the substantial weight of the evidence." Id. (citing Adams v. Green, 474 So.2d 577, 582 (Miss. 1985). The Hankins Court further set forth the standard for reviewing whether the granting or refusing of a new trial is proper by stating:

The standard for reviewing the action of a trial court in the granting or refusing of a new trial was set out in the case of <u>Dorr v. Watson</u>, 28 Miss. 383 (1854). That case states that though it is within the sound discretion of the court below whether to grant a new trial, if a new trial is refused it may be reversed when the denial of the motion is manifestly wrong. <u>Id.</u> at 395.

Hankins Lumber Co. v. Moore, 774 So.2d at 463-64.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The verdict of the jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence as the evidence does not support a finding that either (1) the vehicle driven by Appellee Cedric Byrd was "continuing its turn forward" at the time of the collision or (2) that the actions of Leah Dooley were the sole proximate cause which in natural and continuous sequence unbroken by any efficient intervening cause, produced the injury without which the result would not have occurred.

The sole defenses relied upon by both Appellees Cedric Byrd and Independent Roofing were (1) that the truck and trailer was "continuing its turn forward" at the time of impact, such that it was still entitled to the lane of traffic; and (2) the affirmative defense that the actions or inactions of Leah Dooley constituted a failure to keep a proper lookout which was the sole proximate cause of the accident. In their closing argument, the Appellees stated unequivocally that they were not asking for an allocation of fault (Tr. 1078 - 1079); rather, their theory of the case was that Leah Dooley's purported failure was the sole proximate cause of the accident. The overwhelming weight of the evidence simply does not support either contention, much less both.

1. Appellees' "Continuation of the turn" theory

In support of their affirmative defense, the Appellees called Trooper Cecilia Kazery to the stand and elicited expert opinion testimony. Further, Cedric Byrd had been called to the stand by Plaintiff, Leah Dooley during her case-in-chief, whereupon he testified that he was moving the truck and trailer forward at the time of the accident. This testimony is wholly unsupportable by the physical evidence, and no reasonable juror could find that the trailer was "continuing its turn forward" at the time of impact. Though the evidence at trial no longer supported the "continuation of the turn theory", the Appellees stuck with that theory through the jury instruction phase and closing arguments, resulting in a verdict that is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and requiring reversal.

The Appellees first stated this theory in their Answers and Defenses, wherein they stated the following, in part:

"FIRST DEFENSE

The Complaint fails to state a claim or cause of action against this Defendant upon which relief can be granted and should be dismissed with prejudice. The named Plaintiff is responsible for the accident and was grossly negligent in driving into the rear of the truck of this Defendant, allowing her child to ride unrestrained in her car and driving at a speed wholly improper for place where the accident occurred. The Appellants lack standing to pursue this action, as they caused the accident. Further, an unborn child has no standing to bring this action."

"THIRD DEFENSE

This Defendant affirmatively pleads that the sole proximate cause or proximate contributing cause of the Plaintiff's injuries, if any, was the negligence of Leah Fulton Dooley." (R. 84-85; 88-89).

In the course of that joint defense, both Appellees maintained the theory with respect to the trailer moving forward at the time of impact. On January 10, 2006, the Appellees both served interrogatory responses which contained the following statement in response to an interrogatory requesting the Appellees' version of the facts:

"RESPONSE NO. 12: On September 29, 2003, Defendant, Cedric Byrd, was driving west on Mississippi 468, while pulling an empty gooseneck trailer. He was in the process of turning right into a driveway when the left, rear corner of his trailer was struck by a vehicle driven by Plaintiff, Leah Fulton Dooley. At the time of the accident, Plaintiff was also driving west on Mississippi 468. Please also see the deposition of Cedric Byrd."

See Independent Roofing Systems, Inc.'s Responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories and Cedric Byrd's Responses to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories. (R. 1914-15; 1919-20)[emphasis added].

On February 14, 2006, the Appellees jointly moved for summary judgment on the basis of the same theory, wherein they stated that Cedric Byrd "was in the process of making a right turn into a driveway when the rear of his vehicle was struck by the Plaintiff." See Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment, paragraph number 2 (R. 379). Pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Court, the Appellees jointly filed an Itemization of Facts in support of that motion wherein it maintained that the trailer "was in the process of making a right turn". (R. 376).

The Appellees stuck with this theory throughout the course of the trial. During arguments for jury instructions, counsel for the Appellees stated as follows in support of the "continuation of turn" theory:

Your Honor, the evidence in the case is the jury has a choice of deciding one of two issues: One, that we were backing out. The second one is that we were turning in. Those are the only two issues here. It's uncontradicted before this jury that if he didn't back out then he had the right of way and those — that's the choice.

What they're trying to do is get the middle ground. They can't have that.

Tr. 988 - 989. Indeed, the evidence supported, and the Dewey Dooley Appellants were trying to offer, just that: the theory that even if the truck and trailer were stranded or sitting still while the employees were trying to figure out their next move, their actions in doing so constituted at the least a proximate contributing cause, particularly when considering their failure to warn. However, these Appellants were denied the opportunity to question Cedric Byrd, Patrick Keys, and Leah Dooley on this evidence due to the Trial Court's error in misapplying the Long v. McKinney standard, severely prejudicing their fair opportunity to be heard, as set forth infra. Simply because the Appellees intended to pursue an all-or-nothing approach, eschewing any potential allocation of fault by the jury (Tr. 1078-79), the Dewey Dooley Appellants should not have been precluded from pursuing their alternative theory of allocated fault if the jury found that the trailer was neither backing up nor continuing forward with its turn. That denial constituted reversible error, as these Appellants were denied their opportunity to present their case.

As shown, the Appellees stayed with their "turn continuation" theory all the way through the trial, even though the credible evidence simply no longer supported it. Patrick Keys testified that, during the period of time between the initial attempt to turn in by the truck/trailer and the moment of impact, "two or three cars had passed by." (Tr. 272). Cedric testified that "He walked up there and had about two or three cars going..."(Tr. 212, ln 5-6), and "When the first three cars went passed, he came back to the front of the truck and he was guiding me in." (Tr. 212, ln 23-25).

Accordingly, even affording the Appellees the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence, the facts and inferences so overwhelmingly point in favor of the Appellants that reasonable jurors could not have arrived at a verdict in favor of the Appellees' on their "continuation of the turn" theory. Rather, the evidence regarding the three to five minute period and the passing of two to three vehicles during which the truck and trailer was stalled or otherwise at a standstill completely negates such a theory, and the same being against the overwhelming weight of the evidence is grounds for reversal.

2. Appellees' Affirmative Defense Theory that Leah Dooley's acts were the sole proximate cause of the accident.

With the "continuation of their turn" theory being against the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence, the Appellees were left with the burden of proving their affirmative defense that Leah Dooley failed to keep a proper lookout and that such failure was an efficient, intervening cause which was the sole proximate cause of the accident.

Throughout their maintenance of the affirmative defense that Leah Dooley was the sole, proximate cause of the accident, the Appellees avoided use of the term "intervening cause." Whether this omission was purposeful or unintentional, the effect is the same. For negligence to legally be determined to be the sole, proximate cause of some damage, it must be determined to be

the *efficient* cause. The very definition of proximate cause has been stated as follows: "Proximate cause is defined as the 'cause which in natural and continuous sequence unbroken by any efficient intervening cause produces the injury without which the result would not have occurred." <u>Titus v. Williams</u>, 844 So.2d 459, 466 (Miss. 2003) (citing <u>Delahoussaye v. Mary Mahoney's</u>, Inc., 783 So.2d 666, 671 (Miss. 2001)). "Negligence which merely furnishes the condition or occasion upon which injuries are received, but does not put in motion the agency by or through which the injuries are inflicted, is not the proximate cause thereof." <u>Mississippi City Lines v. Bullock</u>, 13 So.2d 34, 36 (Miss. 1943) (cited with approval most recently in <u>Entrican v. Ming</u>, Hinds 62 So.2d 28, 36 (Miss. 2007) and <u>Williams v. Jackson</u>, 989 So.2d 991, 994 (Miss. App. 2008)).

Assuming for the sake of argument that evidence was introduced during the trial of this case upon which reasonable inferences could be drawn to the effect that Leah Dooley failed in some degree to keep a proper lookout, the Appellees failed to prove that any such purported failure was the cause which *in natural and continuous sequence unbroken by any efficient intervening cause* produced Jonathan's death. Even absent a finding that the truck/trailer was backing up at the moment of impact, the Appellees simply failed to prove that their original actions in failing to complete the initial turn into the driveway and in failing to employ warning devices or otherwise warn was relegated to the position of a remote, non-actionable cause, and thus was not a proximate cause. See Mississippi City Lines, Inc. v. Bullock, 13 So.2d 34, 36 (Miss. 1943). This Supreme Court has spoken regarding this standard as follows:

To be sure, the determination of proximate cause involves a temporal element. However, the last cause put in motion which *in fact* contributes to the result is not necessarily the sole proximate cause.

True, this Supreme Court has stated: [T]hat negligence which merely furnished the condition or occasion upon which injuries are received, but does not put in motion the agency by or through which the injuries are inflicted, is not the proximate cause thereof. However, if an antecedent negligent act puts

in motion an agency which continues in operation until an injury occurs it would appear to be more like a second proximate cause than a remote and unactionable cause.

Blackmon v. Payne, 510 So.2d 483, 487 (Miss. 1987)[emphasis in original]. In Blackmon, the Court reversed a verdict in favor of the Defendant, stating "Neither instruction D-9 nor the instructions as a whole take into account that 'the original negligence of one party will not be insulated if the occurrence of the intervening cause might reasonably have been anticipated." Blackmon v. Payne, 510 So.2d at 487. The Court further stated:

"The facts as presented suggest the former rather than the latter, since it would appear that any negligence on the part of Payne, assumed for purposes of the instruction, would have put in motion an agency, his tractor-trailer, which would have still been operating at the time of the accident. We are familiar with the fact that there is often some degree of negligence on the part of both parties to an automobile collision, and this does not mean that one or either is barred from recovery. It should make little difference in this context which negligent act actually happened last.

In suits arising from such circumstances the jury should not be confused by an instruction which implies that it should excuse a Defendant who was negligent merely because he was not the last link in an uninterrupted causal chain."

Id.

The cases in which the first act of negligence was such that it was a non-actionable cause have typically been based upon facts in which the original act was truly remote. See Milam v. Gulf, Mobile & Ohio Railroad Co., 284 So.2d 309 (Miss. 1973) (holding that negligence of railroad in placing guardrail too close to highway was non-actionable in case where driver attempted to pass another motorist at excessive speed within prohibited distance of railroad crossing; Glorioso v. Young Mens' Christian Assoc. of Jackson, 556 So.2d 293 (Miss. 1989) (finding that any negligence of municipality in placing a 1,400 pound light pole upon the ground at the top of an embankment was remote, where child was killed after other children dislodged the pole from its place on the ground); Mississippi Department of Transportation v. Johnson, 873 So.2d 108 (Miss.

2004) (holding that any negligence by department in permitting bales of hay to remain in right-of-way was not proximate cause of injuries where motorists collided with a cow standing in the middle of a roadway); Illinois Central Gulf Railroad Co. v. Milward, 902 So.2d 575 (Miss. 2005) (holding that railroad's negligence in failing to maintain reflective material on a cross buck was not a proximate contributing cause of injuries to motorist who was driving while legally intoxicated, at night, in a severe rain and windstorm with virtually no visibility).

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