IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LEAH FULTON DOOLEY; ET AL

APPELLANTS

٧.

CASE NO. 2009-CA-01830

CEDRIC BYRD AND INDEPENDENT ROOFING SYSTEMS, INC. APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

James D. Holland, Carlos Andrew J. Stubbs PAGE, KRUGER & HOLLAND, P.A. P.O. Box 1163 Jackson, MS 39215-1163 (601) 420.0333

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEES, CEDRIC BYRD AND INDEPENDENT ROOFING SYSTEMS, INC.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

In order that the Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal, the undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case:

- 1. Leah Fulton Dooley, Appellant;

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

At trial, Kazery was grilled at length by counsel for the Appellants about whether the warning devices or the presence of a flagman, or lack thereof, were potential contributing

proximate causes of the accident.² Repeatedly, Officer Kazery emphasized that Cedric was making his turn into the driveway when the accident occurred and had no duty to place warning devices during his turn (R. 957, 963, 966). Therefore, Appellants' argument about warning devices is without merit since no such duty arose. The simple fact is, the accident occurred during broad daylight. The plaintiff driver's duty was to watch where she is driving.

The jury did not believe and the evidence did not support Appellants' contention that Cedric suddenly backed the trailer into the road directly in front of the Plaintiff driver so that she had no time to react and avoid the accident (R. 573-576). The testimony at trial was quite to the contrary. Keys testified that he never saw Cedric back up (R. 281). Looking at photographs of the accident scene, Kazery explained, "I don't see anything in here showing where he [Cedric] backed up any distance back into the road" (R. 876). Looking further at the physical evidence, it is clear that Leah had no time to react because she was not paying attention, not because Cedric backed out in front of her. Kazery testified that, given Leah's testimony regarding how the accident happened and the undisputed speed of Leah's vehicle, Cedric could not have backed out in front of Leah as she contended. It was a physical impossibility (R. 871-874). Even Appellants' own expert, William Partenheimer stated that it would be impossible for the trailer to back out in front of the plaintiff driver as she contends (R. 463). It is clear that no matter how the Appellants argue the testimony

² This argument by Appellants is partly based on § 392.22(b)(1) of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations which states that, "whenever a commercial motor vehicle is stopped upon the traveled portion or the shoulder of the highway for any cause other than necessary traffic stops, the driver shall, as soon as possible, but in any event within <u>10 minutes</u> place the warning devices required by 393.95 of this chapter." '

offered at trial, the overwhelming weight of the evidence supports the jury verdict of no negligence of Cedric Byrd proximately caused the accident.

Appellants also claimed that the evidence showed that shadows cast on the road near the truck and trailer kept Leah from being able to see the trailer in the road. Officer Warren, a Sheriff's Deputy, testified that, when he showed up on the scene after the fact, shadows were cast over the trailer, but both the truck and trailer were still visible (R. 182). Partenheimer subsequently stated that, Leah Dooley should have seen the trailer in the road (R. 182, 470). Subsequent testimony from Kazery explained that the trees on the side of the road, as well as the shadows, would not have obstructed Leah's view ahead and played no role in causing the accident (R. 927-931).

- B. The jury verdict stands and the motion for JNOV fails because the evidence viewed in the light most favorable to the Defendants giving them all favorable inferences fully support the jury's decision.
- 1. The testimony of a disgruntled former employee gave no basis for Plaintiff claims.

Appellants argue that the Defendants conspired to hide the truth of what really happened on the date of the accident based <u>only</u> on the testimony of a disgruntled former employee, McLain. In an effort to push their theory that Cedric backed into the road in front of Leah's approaching vehicle, Appellants point to one line in Cedric's trial testimony where he says, "I backed up a little bit" (R. 225). What Appellants fail to mention any of the rest of Cedric's testimony which clearly shows that he was trying to get his truck and trailer into the driveway at the time of the impact. Cedric's pertinent testimony reads:

A. I was trying to back it up to keep from hitting the mailbox. I backed up a little bit. Then, "Come on. Come on forward. You got it. Come on forward." I was easing forward when the wreck happened."

Q. So you had backed up just – you had backed up just before you got hit?A. It had been a good while before I got hit.

(R. 225). Thus, the evidence clearly shows that Cedric was pulling into the driveway and had the right-of-way when Leah hit the back of his trailer.

McLain is not and was never qualified as an accident reconstruction expert. He was merely a supervisor for Independent Roofing who went to the accident scene after the fact and then testified based on some photos. Since McLain was not at the accident scene when it occurred, he is not qualified to state what he feels is "obvious" about the movement of Cedric's truck (R. 337-339). Second, even accepting McLain's testimony as true, it only supports the conclusion that Cedric had the truck in reverse at one point. This is compliant with Cedric's own testimony that he tried to back up in order to keep from hitting the mailbox as he pulled in to the driveway. Neither Cedric, McLain nor Ramsey attempted to hide the truth from anyone because, as their testimony shows, there was nothing to hide.

Officer Kazery wrote in her accident report, and restated at trial, Leah failed to yield the right of way to Cedric (R. 885). Even Partenheimer, Plaintiffs own expert accident reconstruction witness testified that Leah Dooley would have seen the trailer in the road had she been paying attention (R. 431). Viewing the evidence in the light most consistent with the jury verdict, it is clear that the overwhelming weight of the evidence is in the Appellees' favor. Since the jury verdict was consistent with the weight of the evidence the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing Appellants' Motion for New Trial. This Court should reach the same conclusion and uphold the trial court's decision not to disturb the jury verdict.

2. There is no evidence that the verdict against the heirs was caused by passion, bias or prejudice.

Appellants provide no support for the argument that the jury verdict was a result of bias, passion or prejudice. The record is complete with the efforts of the court to accommodate the differences among the heirs, yet each family group now argues that the attorneys for the other heirs caused the jury verdict. The mother's side argues that the father's side caused the jury verdict (Mother's brief pages 45-48, 616-623) and the father's side the reverse (Father's brief pages 15-17). What is clear was that this was a tragic accident which resulted in the death of a two year old boy. The jury listened intently for two weeks as the evidence was presented, visited the accident scene at the request of the Plaintiffs (page 17-18, 63), heard from fact and expert witnesses, and was instructed on the numerous theories of liability and claims for damages. The jury allocated all fault against the Plaintiff driver and none against the defendants.

C. Reading the jury instructions, individually and as a whole, the trial court was within its considerable discretion in instructing the jury.

Read separately and as a whole, the jury instructions given by the trial court in the underlying action properly instructed the jury on the applicable primary rules of law. Appellants argue that four jury instructions should have been given that were not given; and that two jury instructions should not have been given that were given.

What Appellants fail to recognize is that the applicable law in every one of these instructions was submitted to the jury in Jury Instructions Twelve through Thirteen (R. 1049-1056). Therefore, the jury instructions, read properly as a whole, instructed the jury on the applicable primary rules of law and Appellant's arguments are without merit.

The Court is allowed to refuse an instruction which incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence. *Spicer* v. *State*, 921 So. 2d 292, 313 (Miss. 2006). "If a proposed jury instruction repeats a theory fairly covered in another instruction, incorrectly state the law, or is without adequate foundation in the evidence of the case, a trial court may properly refuse to grant the instruction." *Etheridge v. Harold Case* & Company, *Inc.*, 960 So. 2s 474 (Miss. App. 2006) (citing Burr v. *Mississippi Baptist Medical Center*, 909 So, 2d 721 at 726 (Miss. 2005)). The trial court has considerable discretion when instructing the jury. *Bickham*, 861 So. 2d 299 at 301 (Miss. 2003). A trial judge may refuse a proposed jury instruction that has no proper foundation in the evidence before the court. *Resource Services*, *Inc.* v. *Cato*, 15 So. 3d 412 at 423 (Miss. 2009); Young v. Guild, 7 So. 3d 251 at 259 (Miss. 2009).

The trial judge was correct in not giving a negligence per se instruction based on Defendant Byrd not having a Class-D license, because the evidence showed that having or not having that license could not be a proximate cause of the accident. "Instructions to a jury must be based on evidence placed into the record before they can be properly granted." *Detroit Marine Engineering v. McRee,* 510 So. 2d 462 (Miss. 1987); See Also *McBroom v. State,* 64 So. 2d 144 (1953). "While … violations of statutes constitute negligence per se, this does not relieve a party from the burden of showing that the <u>negligence</u> of the opposing party <u>caused or contributed</u> to the injury suffered by a complainant." *Thomas v. McDonald,* 667 So. 2d 594 at 596-597 (Miss. 1995).

[W]hen a statute is violated, a party is entitled to an instruction on negligence. However, in order to recover damages for an injury, that negligence (violation of a statute) must have proximately caused or contributed to the injury. In other words, a violation of a statute, in and of itself, does not dictate that

either (1) the violation was the proximate cause or contributing cause of an injury suffered by a party, or (2) recovery for damages is imminent.

Utz v. Running and Rolling Trucking, 32 So. 3d 450 (Miss., 2010); See Also Thomas v. McDonald, 667 So. 2d 594 at 596-597 (Miss. 1995).

In the instant matter, the evidence in the record showed that the accident was proximately caused by the negligence of Leah Dooley in failing to maintain a proper lookout. Leah was paying attention to Jonathan, unrestrained and playing on the seat next to her, and not paying attention to the road ahead. Thus, the trial court properly determined that the status of Byrd's license played no role in the accident and no negligence per se instruction was warranted.

The trial court exercised its discretion at trial in submitting Jury Instruction Number

13 to the jury, which read in pertinent part:

Instruction 13: The Court instructs the jury that the heirs contend that the death of Jonathan Wayne Dooley was proximately caused or contributed to by the defendant's failure to possess the proper training, qualification or skill to operate the truck and 25-foot gooseneck trailer; failure to have triangles or similar warning devices available; failure to place triangles or similar warning devices within a reasonable time; failure in attempting to turn the truck and trailer from a direct course on the highway into a driveway of Robert Smith when such turn could not be done or was not done with reasonable safety; failure to act as a reasonably careful person would in turning into the driveway or remaining upon the highway under the circumstances as then and there existed If you find by a preponderance of the evidence that the death of Jonathan Wayne Dooley was caused or contributed to by any failures, if any, of the defendants and not from any failure to keep a proper lookout, if any, by Leah Dooley, then it is your sworn duty to return a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs ...

It is clear from this instruction that the jury was adequately instructed on the areas of law about which Appellants' express their concern before it deliberated and delivered a unanimous verdict in favor of Defendants/Appellees.

1. The evidence did not support any negligence per se instructions.

Furthermore, it is a fundamental rule in civil negligence cases that the plaintiff must prove that the alleged breach of a duty proximately caused her damages. Under *Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc. v. Jeffcoat,* "[w]hen a statute is violated, the injured party is entitled to an instruction that the party violating is guilty of negligence, and if that negligence proximately caused or contributed to the injury, then the injured party is entitled to recover." 887 So. 2d 777 (Miss. 2004). At trial, Plaintiffs failed to present credible evidence of the nexus between the statutes and the accident.

Moreover, Appellants failed to prove that the above-cited statutes were even applicable to the facts of this case. The evidence presented at trial showed that Cedric was turning into the driveway when Leah Dooley ran into the back of his trailer and that Leah's failure to maintain a proper lookout was the proximate cause of the accident and decedent's death. Thus, Miss. Code Ann. § 63-7-71 (1972), which refers only to trucks or buses stopped on the side of the road for a long period of time is inapplicable, along with the *Thomas* case cited by Appellants in support of their argument. *Thomas v. McDonald*, 667 So. 2d 594 (Miss. 1995).³ Likewise, Miss. Code Ann. § 63-1-211 (1972), which addresses the obtaining of a Class D license in order to drive certain vehicles is inapplicable where it was not shown that the failure of Cedric to have such a license proximately caused the Appellants' damages. For these reasons, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to submit Appellants'

³ Thomas involved a fatal accident that occurred when a vehicle ran into the back of a truck that was broken down in the middle of a highway. 667 So. 2d 594 (Miss. 1995). In Thomas, it was uncontroverted that Miss. Code Ann. § 63-7-71 applied to the facts presented and that it was violated.

proposed negligence per se instructions to the jury which was properly instructed on all applicable areas of the law.

2. The instructions blaming neither party for the shadows or driveway were proper and supported by the evidence.

Jury Instructions 10 and 11 instructed the jury on conditions that Appellants argue were factors in the accident in this cause but were not attributable to either party. For example, Number 10 instructs that, "[if] you find from a preponderance of the evidence that the condition of the driveway contributed to the accident then such contribution is not attributable to any party in this case" (R. 1049). Number 11 states the exact same thing only in reference to the "condition of the shadows," that were on the road as Appellant Leah Dooley approached Appellees' truck and trailer (R. 1049). At trial, Appellants argued that both of these instructions were vague and ambiguous and confusing to the jury. (R. 1031-1033).

Appellants now argue that the conditions referred to in each of these instructions needed to be considered by the jury. After hearing arguments from counsel for all parties, the circuit court judge decided, "[i]t just doesn't fall one way or the other. If they find that something was wrong with that driveway, then Mr. Smith [the owner of the driveway] ought to be in here as a defendant in my opinion. It's not attributable to either party" (R. 1020). In the event that the jury determines the condition of the driveway or shadows were factors in the accident, neither of those conditions could be attributable to any party. In so instructing the jury on the conditions, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

D. The court was fully within its broad discretion to regulate the control and participation at trial in allowing the father plaintiff to appear thought separate counsel and directing the separate counsel's involvement in trial.

The court throughout the trial gave considerable leeway and time to the several attorneys for the heirs to allow all issues to be presented. He gave them time to confer, allowed the separate counsel for the mother and father to separately question witnesses and argue legal issues. Many of the complaints found in the appeal briefs on this issue were not preserved in the court record (R. 85-88), and others misstate what occurred at trial. At every turn, counsel was given time to meet and present their case which took six years to prepare for trial.

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